



Candwr Solar Farm

Pre Application Consultation

Environmental Statement

Chapter 15: References

2 July 2026



15. References

15.1. Introduction

- European Union (2014) Directive 2014/52/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 2011/92/EU on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the environment.
- UK Government (1990, as amended) Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2015) Planning (Wales) Act 2015. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2016) Developments of National Significance (Specified Criteria and Prescribed Secondary Consents) (Wales) Regulations 2016. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2016) Developments of National Significance (Procedure) (Wales) Order 2016. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2017) The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>

15.2. EIA Assessment Scope and Methodology

- European Commission (1999) Guidelines for the Assessment of Indirect and Cumulative Impacts as well as Impact Interactions. Available at: <https://ec.europa.eu>
- Hyder Consulting UK Limited (1999) Guidelines for the Assessment of Indirect and Cumulative Impacts as well as Impact Interactions. Available at: <https://ec.europa.eu>
- Met Office (2018) UK Climate Projections (UKCP). Available at: <https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/approach/collaboration/ukcp>
- UK Government (2012) The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2017) The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>

15.3. Application Site

- Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment (2023) Guidelines: Environmental Assessment of Traffic and Movement. Available at: <https://www.iema.net>
- Torfaen County Borough Council and Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council (2021) Sensitivity and Capacity Study for Renewable Energy Development (Torfaen Replacement Local Development Plan 2018–2033). Available at: <https://www.torfaen.gov.uk>

15.4. Proposed Development and Alternatives

- Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (2022) British Energy Security Strategy. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/british-energy-security-strategy>
- Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (2026) Solar photovoltaics deployment. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/solar-photovoltaics-deployment>
- Monmouthshire County Council (2014) Monmouthshire Local Development Plan. Available at: <https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk>
- Monmouthshire County Council (2024) Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Background Paper (October 2024). Available at: <https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2025/10/SD149-Renewable-Energy-Background-Paper-October-2024.pdf>
- Newport City Council (2015) Newport Local Development Plan 2011–2026. Available at: <https://www.newport.gov.uk>
- Torfaen County Borough Council (2013) Torfaen Local Development Plan. Available at: <https://www.torfaen.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>
- Welsh Government (2026) Technical Advice Note 15: Development, Flooding and Coastal Erosion. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/tan15-development-flooding-and-coastal-erosion>

15.5. Landscape and Visual

- Landscape Institute and Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment (2013) Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (3rd Edition). Available at: <https://www.landscapeinstitute.org>
- Monmouthshire County Council (2014) Monmouthshire Local Development Plan 2011–2021. Available at: <https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk>
- Monmouthshire County Council and Carbon Trust (2020) Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment. Available at: <https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk>
- Newport City Council (2015) Newport Local Development Plan 2011–2026. Available at: <https://www.newport.gov.uk>
- Torfaen County Borough Council (2011) Designation of Special Landscape Areas. Available at: <https://www.torfaen.gov.uk>
- Torfaen County Borough Council (2013) Torfaen Local Development Plan 2013–2021. Available at: <https://www.torfaen.gov.uk>

- TACP Landscape Consultants (2021) Sensitivity and Capacity Study for Renewable Energy Development. Available at: <https://www.torfaen.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>

15.6. Ecology

- Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management (2019) Guidelines for Ecological Impact Assessment in the UK and Ireland. Available at: <https://cieem.net/resource/guidelines-for-ecological-impact-assessment-ecia/>
- Natural Resources Wales (2021) Flood Map for Planning. Available at: <https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/maps/flood-map-for-planning/>
- Welsh Government (2017) The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made>
- Welsh Government (2021) Environment (Wales) Act 2016 – Section 7 Priority Habitats and Species List. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/environment-wales-act-2016-section-7>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales> Glint and Glare

15.7. Glint and Glare

- Civil Aviation Authority (2016) Air Navigation Order 2016. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/765/contents/made>
- Department for Energy and Climate Change (2013) UK Solar PV Strategy. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-solar-pv-strategy>
- Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (2023) Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1). Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overarching-national-policy-statement-for-energy-en-1>
- Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (2023) National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3). Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-policy-statement-for-renewable-energy-infrastructure-en-3>
- Federal Aviation Administration (2013) Technical Guidance for Evaluating Selected Solar Technologies on Airports. Available at: https://www.faa.gov/airports/environmental/airport_development/solar_guide
- Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2025) National Planning Policy Framework. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework>

- Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2023) Planning practice guidance: Renewable and low carbon energy. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy>
- Pager Power (2022) Solar Photovoltaic Developments: Glint and Glare Guidance (4th Edition). Available at: <https://www.pagerpower.com>
- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>

15.8. Agricultural Circumstances

- Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2009) Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-the-sustainable-use-of-soils-on-construction-sites>
- Institute of Sustainability and Environmental Professionals (2022) A New Perspective on Land and Soils in Environmental Impact Assessment. Available at: <https://www.iema.net>
- Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (1988) Revised Guidelines and Criteria for Grading the Quality of Agricultural Land. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/agricultural-land-classification-alc-revised-guidelines>
- The Institute of Quarrying (2021) Good Practice Guide for Handling Soils on Construction Sites. Available at: <https://www.quarrying.org>
- Welsh Government (2021) Agricultural Land Classification: Predictive Map (Map 2). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/agricultural-land-classification-alc>
- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>
- Welsh Government (2021) Predictive Agricultural Land Classification Guidance Note (Version 2.1, May 2021). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/agricultural-land-classification-alc>

15.9. Water Environment

- CIRIA (2015) The SuDS Manual (CIRIA C753). Available at: <https://www.ciria.org>
- UK Government (2010) Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents/enacted>

- UK Government (1991) Land Drainage Act 1991. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/contents/enacted>
- UK Government (2017) The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made>
- Welsh Assembly Government (2008) Welsh Transport Planning and Appraisal Guidance (WelTAG). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales>
- Welsh Government (2018) Statutory standards for sustainable drainage systems – designing, constructing, operating and maintaining surface water drainage systems. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales>
- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>
- Welsh Government (2025) Technical Advice Note 15: Development, Flooding and Coastal Erosion. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/technical-advice-note-tan-15-development-flooding-and-coastal-erosion>

15.10. Built Heritage

- Cadw (2011) Conservation Principles for the Sustainable Management of the Historic Environment in Wales. Available at: <https://cadw.gov.wales>
- Cadw (2017) Heritage Impact Assessment in Wales. Available at: <https://cadw.gov.wales>
- Cadw (2017) Setting of Historic Assets in Wales. Available at: <https://cadw.gov.wales>
- Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (2014) Standard and Guidance for Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment. Available at: <https://www.archaeologists.net>
- Planning Inspectorate (2024) Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects: Advice on Cumulative Effects Assessment. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate>
- UK Government (2015) Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- UK Government (1990) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2023) Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2017) Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales>

- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>

15.11. Transport and Access

- Institute of Environmental Management and Assessment (2023) Environmental Assessment of Traffic and Movement. Available at: <https://www.iema.net/>
- UK Government (1980) Highways Act 1980. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66>
- UK Government (2004) Traffic Management Act 2004. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/18>
- Welsh Government (2007) Technical Advice Note 18: Transport. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales>
- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>
- UK Government (2023) Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB). Available at: <https://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/>

15.12. Air Quality

- British Geological Survey (2026) UK Soil Observatory Map Viewer. Available at: <https://www.ukso.org>
- Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2019) Clean Air Strategy 2019. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019>
- Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2025) Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (TG22). Available at: <https://laqm.defra.gov.uk>
- Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2026) UK Pollutant Release and Transfer Register. Available at: <http://prtr.defra.gov.uk/map-search>
- Department for Transport (2018) Reducing Emissions from Road Transport: Road to Zero Strategy. Available at: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy>
- European Parliament and Council (2008) Directive 2008/50/EC on Ambient Air Quality. Available at: <https://eur-lex.europa.eu>
- Institute of Air Quality Management (2024) Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction. Available at: <http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance>

- Moorcroft, S. and Barrowcliffe, R. et al. (2017) Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality. Available at: <http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance>
- Newport City Council (2024) Air Quality Action Plan 2024–2029. Available at: <https://www.newport.gov.uk>
- Newport City Council (n.d.) Supplementary Planning Guidance. Available at: <https://www.newport.gov.uk/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance.aspx>
- UK Government (1990) Environmental Protection Act 1990. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents>
- UK Government (1995) Environment Act 1995. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/contents>
- UK Government (2010) Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/1001/contents>
- Vehicle Certification Agency (2024) Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM): What is Vehicle Type Approval?. Available at: <https://www.vehicle-certification-agency.gov.uk>
- Welsh Government (2010) Air Quality (Wales) Regulations 2010. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2010/1433/contents>
- Welsh Government (2020) Clean Air Plan for Wales: Healthy Air, Healthy Wales. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales>
- Welsh Government (2021) Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040>
- Welsh Government (2024) Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12). Available at: <https://www.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales>
- Welsh Government (2024) Environment (Air Quality and Soundscapes) (Wales) Act 2024. Available at: <https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2024/2>